" NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Tamfelt, Incorporated Docket Nos. 030-3414¢

Canton, MA 02021 99990001
License No. 20-18489-07
General License

During an NRC inspection conducted on August 28 anc 29, 1996, violations ef

NRC requirements were identified. In accordance with the "General Statement
of Policy and Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions,” (Enforcement Policy),

NUREG 1600, the violations are listed below:

A. 10 CFR 71.5 requires, in part, that each licensee who transports licensed
material outside the site of usage, as specified in the NRC license, or
where transport is on public highways, comply with the applicable
requirements of the Department of Transportation regulations in 49 CFR
parts 170 through 189 appropriate to the mode of transport.

Pursuant to 49 CFR 172.101, radioactive material i< classified as a
hazardous material.

49 CFR 173.421-1 requires, in part, that excepted packages prepared for
shipment under the provisions of 49 CFR 173.422 must be certified as
being acceptable for transportation by having a notice enclosed in or on
the package, included with the packing 1ist, or otherwise forwarded with
the package. This notice must include the name of the consignor or
consignee and the statement "This package conforms to the conditions and
the limitations specified in 49 CFR 173.422 for radioactive material,
excepted package - instruments or articles, UN 2910."

Contrary to the above, as of August 29, 1996, the licensee under NRC
License No. 20-18489-02 prepared excepted packages containing NDC System
Model 104P instruments with 80 millicuries of americium-241 for shipment
under the provisions of 49 CFR 173.422 and did not certify the packages
as being acceptable for transportation by having a notice forwarded with
the package.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement V).

B. 10 CFR 31.5(b) requires that the general license in 10 CFR 31.5(a)
applies only to byproduct material contained in devices which have been
manufactured or initially transferred and labeled in accordance with the
specifications contained in a specific license issued pursuant to 10 CFR
32.51 or in accordance with the specifications in a specific license
issued by an Agreement State which authorizes the distribution of the
devices to persons generally licensed by the Agreement State.
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Notice of Violatiorn -2-

10 CFR 32.51(a)(3) requires, in part, that an application for a specific
license to manufacture, or initially transfer devices containirg
typroduct material to persons generally licensed under 10 CFR 31.5 or
equivalent regulations of an Agreement State will be approved if each
device bears a durable, legible, clearly visible label or labels approved
by the Commission or an Agreement State which contain in a clearly
identified and separate statement the instructions and precautions
necessary to assure safe installation, operation, and servicing of the
device, the requirements, or lack of requirement, for leak testing, or
for testing any on-off mechanism and indicator, including the max imum
time interval for such testing, and the identification of radioactive
material by isotope, quantity of material, and date of determination of
the quantity, and the information called for in the statement in 10 CFR

31.5(a)(3)(ii1).

10 CFR 31.5(c)(1) requires that any person who acquires, receives,
possesses, uses or transfers byproduct material in a device pursuant to
the general license in 10 CFR 31.5(a) assure that all labels affixed to
the device at the time of receipt and bearing a statement that removal of
the label is prohibited are maintained thereon and shall comply with all
instructions and precautions provided by such Tabels.

Contrary to the above, as of August 29, 1996, the general licensee
possessed a gauge manufactured by Fehrer of Austria which contained an
NDC Systems Model No. 102 probe with a nominal 150 millicurie americium-
241 s2ared source, and the gauge was not appropriately labeled.
Specifically, NDC Systems initially distributed the probe to Fehrer who
installed the probe into one of Fehrer's gauges. The probe was
completeiy concealed within the gauge and none of the labels on the probe
were visible. Also, Fehrer is not licensed by the NRC or an Agreement
State to distribute gauges in the United States.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Tamfelt, Incorporated is hereby
required to submit a written statement or explanation to the U.S. Nuclear
Regulatory Commission, ATIN: Document Control Desk, Washington, D.C. 20555,
with a copy to the Regional Administrator, Region I, within 30 days of the
date of the letter transmitting this Notice of Violation (Notice). This reply
should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of Violation" and should
include for each violation: (1) the reason for the violation, or, if
contested, the basis for disputing the violation, (2) the corrective steps
that have been taken and the results achieved, (3) the corrective steps that
will be taken to avoid further violations, and (4) the date when full
compliance will be achieved. Your response may reference or inciude previous
docketed correspondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the
required response. If an adequate reply is not received within the time
specified in this Notice, an order or a Demand for Information may be issued
as to why the license shouid not be modified, suspended, or revoked, or why
such other action as may be proper should not be taken. Where good cause is
shown, consideration will be given to extending the response time.
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Because your responsc will be placed in the NRC Pubiic Document Room (PDR), to
the extent possible, it should not include any personal privacy, proprietary,
or safeguards information so that it can be placed in the PDR without
redaction. However, if you find it necessary to include such information, you
should clearly indicate the specific information that you desire not to be
placed in the PDR, and provide the legal basis to support your request for
withholding the information from the public.
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AGREEMENT STATE LIST

Kirksey E. Whatley, Director
Division of Radiation Control
Btats Departmant of Public Mealth
State Office Building
Kontgomery, AL 36130~1701

PH (334)613-53%1 X (334)613-5387
INET

Greta J. Dicus, Director

Division of Radiation Control & Emergency Mgmt
Department of Health

4815 West Markhsm Street, Slot 10

Little Rook, AR 72205-3867

PH (801)661-2301 PX (501)661-2468

INET GDICUSGOFFICE.DOH.STATE.AR.US

Aubrey V. Godwin, Director

Arizone Radiation Regulatory Agency
4814 South 40th Street

Phoenix, AZ #5040

PH (602)39%55-4845 FX (602)437-0705
INET GDWA2IARPRODIGY.COM

Edgar D. Bailey, C.H.P., Chief
Radioclogioc Health Branch

Food, Druge & Radiation Safety Division
8tate Department of Health Services
714/744 P Btivet

P.O. Box 942732

Bscrarento, (A 94234-7320

PH (916)322-'482 FX (916)324-3610

INET EBAILFY@HW1.CAHWNET,GOV

Robert M. Quillin, Director

Radiation control Division - (RCD~DO~B1)
Departmsant of Public Hesalth & Environment
4300 Cherry Cresk Drive South

Denver, CO §0222-1810

PH (303)692-3030 PX (303)782-5083

INET ROBERT.QUILLIN@STATE.CO.US

Richard L. Bangart, Director
Office of State Programs

U.8. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
OWFN 3D23

Washingtor.,, DC 20855

PH (301)415+-3340 FX (301)415 «3502
INET RLB2ONRC.GOV
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Lyle E. Jerrett, Chiet

Offioe of Radistion Control

Departaent of Health & Rehabilitative Bervives
1317 Minewood Boulevard

Tallahasses, FL 32399-0700

'u'4004)437—1004 PX (904)487-0435

IN

Thomas E. Hill, Manager

Radiocactive Materisle Program
Department of Natursl Resources

4244 International Parkway, Suite 11¢
Atlanta, GA 20354

PH (404)362-2678 FX (404)362-2652
INET 7TOM_HILLEMAIL.DNR.STATE.GA.US

Donald A. Flater, Chiaf

Buresu of Radiclogical Health
Jowa Department of Public Health
Lucas State Office Building

Des Moines, IA %0319

PH (515)281~3478 FX (515)242~6284
INET

Thomas W. Ortciger, Director
Department of Nuclear Safety
1035 Outer Perk Drive
Springfieid, IL 62704

PH (217)7085-96868 FX (217)524-4724
INET

Gerald W. Allen, Chiet

X~-Ray & RAM Control Section
Department of Health & Environment
Bureau of Air & Radiation

Forbes Field, Building 283

Topeka, K8 66620

PH (913)296-1562 FX (913)296-0984
INET USKANXGN@IBMMATL.COM

Charlas M. Hardin, Executive Director

Conf. of Radiation Control Program Directors, Inc.
205 Cepital Avenue

Frankfort, KY 40601

PH (502)2337-4543 PX (502)227-7863

INET CHARDINOO7@AOL.COM
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Jehn A. Volpe, Ph.D, Manager
Rsdistion Contrel Branch

Cabinet for Mumsn Resources

279 Bast Main Streest

Frankfort, KY 40621-0001
{3;}°°"""”°° FX (503)864~65))

William H. @pell, Administrator

Radiation Protection Division

Office of Air Quality & Radiation Protection
Department of Environmental Quality

7390 Bluebonnet Road

P.O. Box 82138

Baton Rouge, LA 70884-2135

PH (8504)765~0160 FX (504)765-0220

INET BILL_S@DEQ.STATE.US

Robert M. Mallisey, Director
Radiation Control Program
Department of Public Health

305 Bouth S8treet, 7th Floor
Jamaica Plain, MA 02130

PH (617)727-6214 FX (617)727-2098
INET

Roland G. Fletcher, Manager

Radiological Health Program

Alr and Radiation Management Administration
Maryland Department of the Environment

2500 Broening Highway

Baltimore, MD 21224

PH (410)631-3300 FX (410)631~-3198

INET

Robert J. Schell, Nuclear Engineering Specialist
Division of Health Engineering

Radiastion Control Program

Btate House, Station 10

Augusta, ME 04333

PH (207)287-5698 FX (207)287-4172

INET

Eddie 8. Puente, Director
Division of Radiological Health
Gtate Department of Health

3150 Lawson Street

P.O, Box 1700

Jackson, M8 39215-1700
PH.4601)35¢-6657 FX (€01)354-6167
IN
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Dayne H. Brown, Director

Divisicen of Rediation Protection

Department of Environment, Health & Netursl Resources
3828 Barrett Drive

P.O. Box 37687

Raleigh, NC 27611-7687

PH (919)871-4141 FX (919)571~4148

INET

Dana K. Mount, Director

Division of Environmental Engineering
Departmant of Health

1200 Missouri Avenue, Room 104

P.O. Box %5530

Bismarck, ND 58506-5520

PH (701)328-5188 FX (701)328-5200
INET

Mark B. Horton, M.D., M.8.P.H., Director
Nebraske Department of Health

P.O. Box 95007

Lincoln, NE 68509-5007

PH (402)471-2133 FX (402)471~0383

INET

Diane E. Tefft, Administrator
Radiclogical Health Bureau
Division of Public Kaalth Services
Health and Welfare Building

é Hazen Drive

Concord, NH 03301-6%527

PH (603)271-4588 FX (603)225-2325
INET TEFF100WE@WONDER.EM.CDC.GOV

Benito Garcia, Chief

Bureau of Hazardous & Radicactive Materials
Water and Waste Management Division
Department of Environment

P.O. Box 26110

fanta Fe, NM 87502

PH (505)827-1557 FX (505)827-1544
INET

Stanley R. Marshall, Supervisor
Radiclogical Health Becticn
Department of Human Resoures

505 East King Street

Carson ctt;, NV 89710

PH (702)687-5394 FX (702)687-5751
INET
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Rita Aldrich, rtinotgol Radiophysicist
Radioclogical Health Unit

Division of Safety and Health

New York State Department of Labor
Nev York State Office Campus

Building 12, Room 4%7

Albany, NY 12240

PH (518)457-1202 PX (510)457-5%49

INET

Robert R. Nlihﬂlki. mcbo' Director
Buresu of Radiological Health

Nev York City Department of Health

111 Livingston Btreet, Room 2006
Brooklyn, NY 11201~-5078

PH (718)643-7967 PX (7i0)643-4616

INET KULIKOWSKI.ROBERTQ@EPAMAIL.EPA.GOV

Paul J. Merges, Ph.D., Chief

Bureau of Radiation

Division of Hazardous Subatances Regulation
Dapartment of Environmental Conservation

50 Wolf Road, Room 442

Albany, NY 12233-7255

PH (518)457-2225 PX (518)485-839C

INET

Karim Rimawi, Ph.D., Director

Bureau of Environmental Radiation Protection
New York State Department of Health

Two University Place

Albany, NY 12203

PH (518)458-6461 PX (518)458-6434

INET KXRO1PALBNYDH2.BITNETRUACSCZ.ALBANY.EDU

Roger L. Suppes, Chief

Bureau of Radiation Protection
Division of Environmental Health
Ohio Department of Health

35 East Chestnut Street

P.O, Box 118

Columbus, OH 43266-0118

PH (614)644-2727 FX (614)644~1909
INET

* Mike Broderick, Environmental Program Administrator
Radiation Management Section
Department of Environmental Quality
1000 NE 10th Street
Oklahoma City, OK 73117-1212
PH (405)271-7484 FX (405)271-§425
INET

* Letter of intent received from Governor to become an Agreement State.
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Ray D. Paris, Manager

Radistion Protection Bervices
Btate Health Division

Departaent of Human Resources
800 N.E, Orsgon Btrest, No. 21
Portland, OR 97332

PH (503)731-4014 FX (503)731-4081
INET RAY.D.PARISESTATE.OR.VE

* williem P. Dorneife, Director
Ppuresu of Radistion Protection
Departument of Environmental Protection
P.O. Box 8469
Harrisburg, PA 17105-8469
PH (717)787~2480 FX (717)783-896%
INET

Marie Btoackel, Chief

Pivision of Occupational & Radiologic Health
Department of Health

406 Cannon Building

3 Clgitll Hill

Providence, RI 02906~50%97

PH (401)277-3438 FX (401)277~-695)

INET

virgil R. Autry, Director

Division of Radicactive Waste Menagenment
Bureau of Bolid and Hazardous Waste
Department of Health & Environmental Control
2600 Bull Btreet

Columbis, SC 29201

PH (803)896-4244 FX (BO1)896-4242

INET

Max XK. Batavie, P.E., Chief

Bureau of Radiclogical Health

Department of Health & Environmental Control
2600 Bull Btraet

Columbia, SC 29201

PH (803)737-7400 FX (803)737-7412

INET

Michael H. Mobley, Director

Division of Radiological Health
Departrment of Environment and Conservation
L&C Annex, 3rd Floor

401 Church Street

Nashville, TN 37243-1532

PH'4¢15)$33-0360 FX (615)532~-7%18

IN
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